UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, DC 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

☒

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2021
OR

☐

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE TRANSITION PERIOD FROM

TO

Commission File Number: 001-40015

Viant Technology Inc.
(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)
Delaware

85-3447553

(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

2722 Michelson Drive, Suite 100
Irvine, CA

92612

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code: (949) 861-8888
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class

Class A common stock, par value $0.001 per share

Trading Symbol(s)

Name of each exchange on which registered

DSP

The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
(Nasdaq Global Select Market)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.
Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation
S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes ☒ No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging
growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act.
Large accelerated filer
Non-accelerated filer

☐
☒

Emerging growth company

☒

Accelerated filer
Smaller reporting company

☐
☐

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act).

Yes ☐

No ☒

As of May 13, 2021, there were 11,500,000 shares and 47,435,559 shares of the registrant’s Class A and Class B common stock, respectively, $0.001 par value per share,
outstanding.

Table of Contents
Page

PART I.
Item 1.

Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.
PART II.
Item 1.
Item 1A.
Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.
Item 5.
Item 6.
Signatures

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (Unaudited)
A. Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
B. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations
C. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Convertible Preferred Units and Equity
D. Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
E. Condensed Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Controls and Procedures
OTHER INFORMATION
Legal Proceedings
Risk Factors
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds
Defaults Upon Senior Securities
Mine Safety Disclosures
Other Information
Exhibits

3
3
4
5
6
7
19
31
31
33
33
33
33
33
33
34
35

PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited).
VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share/unit data)
As of March 31,
2021

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Accounts receivable, net of allowances
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property, equipment, and software, net
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

Liabilities, convertible preferred units and stockholders' equity/members' equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued compensation
Current portion of long-term debt
Current portion of deferred revenue
Accrued member tax distributions
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Long-term portion of deferred revenue
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Convertible preferred units
2019 convertible preferred units, no par value; none issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021
and 600,000 units authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020; liquidation
preference $5,444 as of December 31, 2020
Members' equity
Common units, no par value; none issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021 and 400,000 units
authorized, issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding as of March 31, 2021
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; 450,000,000 shares authorized and
11,500,000 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021
Class B common stock, $0.001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized and
47,435,559 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2021
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders' equity attributable to Viant Technology Inc./members' equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity
Total liabilities, convertible preferred units and stockholders' equity/members' equity

$

$

As of December 31,
2020

246,585
58,253
5,044
309,882
16,419
2,708
12,422
371
341,802

$

27,219
13,220
7,656
5,365
1,887
—
1,238
56,585
18,170
5,902
382
81,039

$

29,763
24,677
9,711
3,353
2,725
6,878
2,549
79,656
20,182
5,612
453
105,903

—

7,500

—
—
—

—
92,187
(72,070)

—

—

12

—

47
67,656
(3,104)
64,611
196,152
260,763
341,802

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

9,629
89,767
4,487
103,883
13,829
3,015
12,422
371
133,520

$

—
—
—
20,117
—
20,117
133,520

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share/unit data)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Interest expense, net
Other expense (income), net
Total other expense, net
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.
Earnings (loss) per Class A common stock/unit:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted-average Class A common stock/units outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

$

40,144

$

38,160

$

24,344
14,185
5,900
10,420
54,849
(14,705)
235
(70)
165
(14,870)
(11,766)
(3,104)

$

23,603
7,130
2,150
4,656
37,539
621
281
11
292
329
—
329

$

(0.27)

$

0.33

$

(0.27)

$

0.33

11,500

400

11,500

1,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED UNITS AND EQUITY
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Convertible
Preferred Units
Units
Amount

Balance as of
December 31,
2020
Net income
prior to
Reorganization
Transactions
Effect of
Reorganization
Transactions
Issuance of
Class A
common stock
in initial public
offering, net of
underwriting
and offering
costs
Allocation of
equity to
noncontrolling
interests
Accrued
member tax
distributions
Stock-based
compensation
Net loss
subsequent to
Reorganization
Transactions
Balance as of
March 31, 2021

600

$

7,500

Common
Units
Amount

Units

400

$

—

Class A
Common Stock
Shares
Amount

—

$

Class B
Common Stock
Shares
Amount

—

—

$

—

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Members'
Equity

Noncontrolling
Interests

$

$

$ 20,117

$

—

—

—

669
(600)

(7,500)

(400)

—

11,500

12

48,936

49

(1,500)

(2)

28,237

(20,786)

7,500

228,175

228,185

208,587

—

—

$

—

11,500

$

12

47,436

Convertible
Preferred Units
Units
Amount

Balance as of December 31, 2019
Accrued member tax distributions
Net income
Balance as of March 31, 2020

$

47

$

75

19,756

19,756

67,656

$

Common
Units
Units
Amount

(3,104)

(12,435)
$

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

600

$

7,500

400

$

—

$

92,187

600

$

7,500

400

$

—

$

92,187

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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—

75

(3,104)
$

$ 20,117

669

(208,587)

—

Total
Equity

—

$

196,152

Accumulated
Deficit

(15,539)
$ 260,763

Total
Members'
Equity

$ (76,982) $ 15,205
(390)
(390)
329
329
$ (77,043) $ 15,144

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Recovery of doubtful accounts
Loss on disposal of assets
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued compensation
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized software development costs
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of underwriting discounts
Payment of member tax distributions
Payment of offering costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash
Cash at beginning of period
Cash at end of period
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Stock-based compensation included in capitalized software development costs
Accrued member tax distributions recorded in other current liabilities
Offering costs recorded in accounts payable

$

$
$

(14,870)

329

2,427
17,090
(194)
8

2,614
—
(197)
—

31,708
(2,793)
(3,416)
(11,213)
(2,055)
(547)
(1,382)
14,763

5,042
42
3,640
(4,859)
(1,019)
(792)
(1,293)
3,507

(167)
(1,893)
(2,060)

(30)
(1,907)
(1,937)

232,500
(6,805)
(1,442)
224,253
236,956
9,629
246,585
175
2,666
—
1,167

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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$

$

—
—
—
—
1,570
4,815
6,385

$

429
—
2,089
—

VIANT TECHNOLOGY INC.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1. Nature of Operations
Viant Technology Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” “us,” “our” or “Viant”) was incorporated in the State of Delaware on October 9, 2020 for the purpose
of facilitating an Initial Public Offering and other related transactions. The Company operates a demand side platform (“DSP”), Adelphic, an enterprise
software platform that is used by marketers and their advertising agencies to centralize the planning, buying and measurement of their advertising across
channels, including desktop, mobile, connected TV, linear TV, streaming audio and digital billboards.
On February 9, 2021, the Company’s Form S-1 was declared effective by the SEC related to the IPO of its Class A common stock. The closing date of
the IPO was February 12, 2021, and in connection with the closing and the corporate reorganization (the “Reorganization Transactions”), the following actions
were taken:
•

The Company amended and restated its certificate of incorporation, under which the Company is authorized to issue up to 450,000,000 shares
of Class A common stock, up to 150,000,000 shares of Class B common stock, and up to 10,000,000 shares of preferred stock;

•

The limited liability company agreement of Viant Technology LLC was amended and restated (as amended and restated, the “Viant
Technology LLC Agreement”) to, among other things, provide for Class A units and Class B units and appoint the Company as the sole
managing member of Viant Technology LLC;

•

The Viant Technology LLC Agreement classifies the interests acquired by the Company as Class A units and reclassified the interests held by
the continuing members of Viant Technology LLC as Class B units, and permits the continuing members of Viant Technology LLC to
exchange Class B units for shares of Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis or, at the election of Viant Technology Inc., for cash at the
current fair value on the date of the exchange. Immediately following such reclassification, the continuing members held 48,935,559 Class B
units. For each membership unit of Viant Technology LLC that is reclassified as a Class B unit, the Company issued one corresponding share
of our Class B common stock to the continuing members, or 48,935,559 shares of Class B common stock in total;

•

The Company issued and sold 10,000,000 shares of its Class A common stock to the underwriters at an initial public offering price of $25.00
per share, for gross proceeds of $250.0 million before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $17.5 million;

•

The Company used the net proceeds of $232.5 million to acquire 10,000,000 newly issued Class A units of Viant Technology LLC at a perunit price equal to the per-share price paid by the underwriters for shares of our Class A common stock;

•

The underwriters exercised their option to purchase 1,500,000 additional shares of Class A common stock from the selling stockholders. The
Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders. Pursuant to such exercise, the selling stockholders
exchanged the corresponding number of Class B units for the shares of Class A common stock, the corresponding number of shares of Class
B common stock were automatically retired, and 1,500,000 Class A units were issued to the Company;

•

The Class B stockholders and Class A stockholders will initially have 80.5% and 19.5%, respectively, of the combined voting power of the
Company’s common stock. The Class A common stock outstanding will represent 100% of the rights of the holders of all classes of the
Company’s outstanding common stock to share in distributions from the Company, except for the right of Class B stockholders to receive the
par value of the Class B common stock upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up or an exchange of Class B units.

•

The Company entered into a Registration Rights Agreement with the Class B stockholders to provide for certain rights and restrictions after the
IPO.

•

The 2020 Equity Based Incentive Compensation Plan (the “Phantom Unit Plan”) under Viant Technology LLC, was terminated and replaced in
conjunction with the adoption of the Company’s 2021 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “LITP”)
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Immediately following the closing of the IPO, Viant Technology LLC is the predecessor of the Company for financial reporting purposes. The
Company is a holding company, and its sole material asset is its equity interest in Viant Technology LLC. As the sole managing member of Viant
Technology LLC, the Company operates and controls all of the business and affairs of Viant Technology LLC. The Reorganization Transactions are
accounted for as a reorganization of entities under common control. As a result, the condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company recognize
the assets and liabilities received in the Reorganization Transactions at their historical carrying amounts, as reflected in the historical consolidated financial
statements of Viant Technology LLC. The Company will consolidate Viant Technology LLC on its condensed consolidated financial statements and record
a noncontrolling interest related to the Class B units held by the Class B stockholders on its condensed consolidated balance sheet and statement of
operations.
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) for interim financial information which are unaudited and include the operations of the Company, Viant Technology LLC and its
wholly owned subsidiaries. Viant Technology LLC is considered a variable interest entity, or VIE. The Company is the primary beneficiary and sole managing
member of Viant Technology LLC and has decision making authority that significantly affects the economic performance of the entity. As a result, the Company
consolidates Viant Technology LLC. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Viant Technology LLC has been determined to be the predecessor for accounting purposes and, accordingly, the condensed consolidated financial
statements for periods prior to the IPO and the related organizational transactions have been adjusted to combine the previously separate entities for
presentation purposes. Amounts for the period from January 1, 2020 through February 11, 2021 presented in the condensed consolidated financial statements
and notes to condensed consolidated financial statements herein represent the historical operations of Viant Technology LLC. The amounts as of March 31,
2021 and for the period from February 12, 2021 reflect the consolidated operations of the Company.
Management believes that the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, which include only normal
recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of its balance sheet as of March 31, 2021, results of operations for the three months ended March
31,2021 and 2020, and cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. The balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 was derived from the
audited annual financial statements but does not contain all of the footnote disclosures from the annual financial statements. Certain information and
disclosures normally included in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been omitted. Accordingly, these condensed
consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included in
its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.
The consolidated results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the
year ending December 31, 2021, or for any other future annual or interim period.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. On an on-going basis, management evaluates its
estimates, primarily those related to revenue recognition, stock-based compensation, income taxes, allowances for doubtful accounts, the useful lives of
capitalized software development costs and other property, equipment and software, assumptions used in the impairment analyses of long-lived assets and
goodwill, deferred revenue and accrued liabilities. These estimates are based on historical data and experience, as well as various other factors that
management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying amount of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.
As of March 31, 2021, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business continues to evolve. As a result, many of our estimates and
assumptions consider macro-economic factors in the market, which require increased judgment and carry a higher degree of variability and volatility. As
events continue to evolve and additional information becomes available, our estimates may change materially in future periods.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Financial instruments consist of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The carrying amounts of the Company’s current
financial assets and current financial liabilities are considered to be representative of their respective fair values because of the short- term nature of those
instruments.
Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation relates to equity awards granted under the Company’s 2021 LTIP, which is measured and recognized in the condensed
consolidated financial statements based on the fair value of the equity award granted. Since inception of the 2021 LTIP, the Company has only granted
restricted stock units (“RSUs”). The fair value of RSUs is calculated using the closing market price of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant.
Stock-based compensation is related to RSUs granted in connection with our recent IPO to certain employees and board members, pursuant to the 2021
LTIP, where a portion of RSUs awarded to employees will vest upon expiration of the 180 day IPO lock-up period and the remainder of which will
continue to vest through the applicable vesting dates, subject to continued employment for employee grants. RSUs awarded to board members will vest
quarterly and annually through the applicable vesting dates.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the periods presented, net income (loss) is equal to comprehensive income (loss).
Noncontrolling Interests
The noncontrolling interests represent the economic interests of Viant Technology LLC held by Class B common stockholders. Income or loss is
attributed to the noncontrolling interests based on the weighted average LLC interests outstanding during the period. The noncontrolling interests’
ownership percentage can fluctuate over time as the Class B common stockholders elect to exchange their shares of Class B common stock for Class A
common stock.
Earnings (Loss) Per Share
Basic earnings (loss) per share is calculated by dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to Class A common stockholders by the number of
weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding. Shares of our Class B common stock do not share in the earnings or losses of the Company
and are therefore not participating securities. As such, separate presentation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share of Class B common stock under
the two-class method has not been presented.
Diluted earnings (loss) per share adjusts the basic earnings (loss) per share calculation for the potential dilutive impact of common shares such as
equity awards using the treasury-stock method. Diluted earnings (loss) per share considers the impact of potentially dilutive securities except in periods in
which there is a loss because the inclusion of the potential common shares would have an anti-dilutive effect. Shares of our Class B common stock are
considered potentially dilutive shares of Class A common stock; however, related amounts have been excluded from the computation of diluted earnings
(loss) per share of Class A common stock because the effect would have been anti-dilutive under the if-converted and two-class methods.
Earnings (Loss) Per Unit
Basic earnings (loss) per unit is calculated by dividing the earnings (loss) attributable to common unitholders by the number of weighted-average
common units outstanding. The Company applies the two-class method to allocate earnings between common and convertible preferred units.
Diluted earnings (loss) per unit adjusts the basic earnings (loss) per unit attributable to common unitholders and the weighted-average number of
units of common units outstanding for the potential dilutive impact of common units, using the treasury-stock method, and convertible preferred units using
the as-if-converted method. Diluted earnings (loss) per unit considers the impact of potentially dilutive securities except in periods in which there is a loss
because the inclusion of the potential common units would have an anti-dilutive effect.
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Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowances
The following table presents changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts for the three months ended March 31, 2021:
(in thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2020
Recovery of doubtful accounts
Write-offs, net of recoveries
Balance as of March 31, 2021

$

$

335
(194)
(126)
15

Deferred Offering Costs
Deferred offering costs consisted primarily of accounting, legal, and other costs related to our IPO. As of December 31, 2020, the Company
capitalized $2.2 million of deferred offering costs within prepaid expenses and other current assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheet. Upon
consummation of the IPO which occurred in February 2021, total deferred offering costs of $4.3 million were reclassified as additional paid-in capital
within stockholders’ equity and recorded against the proceeds from the offering.
Concentration of Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk consist principally of cash and accounts receivable. The
Company maintains its cash with financial institutions and its cash levels exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) federally insured
limits. Accounts receivable include amounts due from customers with principal operations primarily in the United States.
As of March 31, 2021, one individual customer accounted for 14.6% of consolidated accounts receivable. As of December 31, 2020, one individual
customer accounted for 13.7% of consolidated accounts receivable. For the three months ended March 31, 2021, two individual customers accounted for
17.2% and 11.1% of consolidated revenue, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, no individual customers accounted for more than 10%
of consolidated revenue. For the three months ended March 31, 2021, one advertising agency holding company accounted for 13.5% of consolidated
revenue. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, three advertising agency holding companies accounted for 13.9%, 11.7%, and 11.4% of consolidated
revenue, respectively. As of March 31, 2021, one individual supplier accounted for 13.3% of consolidated accounts payable and accrued liabilities. As of
December 31, 2020, three suppliers accounted for 15.5%, 11.5%, and 10.9% of consolidated accounts payable and accrued liabilities, respectively.

Income Taxes
The Company is the managing member of Viant Technology LLC and, as a result, consolidates the financial results of Viant Technology LLC in the
unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements. Viant Technology LLC is a pass-through entity for U.S. federal and most applicable state and local
income tax purposes following a corporate reorganization effected in connection with our initial public offering. As an entity classified as a partnership for
tax purposes, Viant Technology LLC is not subject to U.S. federal and certain state and local income taxes. Any taxable income or loss generated by Viant
Technology LLC is passed through to, and included in the taxable income or loss of its members, including us. The Company is taxed as a corporation and
pays corporate federal, state and local taxes with respect to income allocated from Viant Technology LLC, based on Viant Technology Inc.'s 19.5%
economic interest in Viant Technology LLC.
The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method, which requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
(“DTAs” and “DTLs”) for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements. Under this method, we
determine DTAs and DTLs on the basis of the differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities by using enacted tax rates
in effect for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. The effect of a change in tax rates on DTAs and DTLs is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date. We recognize DTAs to the extent that we believe that these assets are more likely than not to be realized. In making
such a determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences,
projected future taxable income, tax-planning strategies, carryback potential if permitted under the tax law, and results of recent operations. If we determine
that we would be able to realize our DTAs in the future in excess of their net recorded amount, we would make an adjustment to the DTA valuation
allowance, which would reduce the provision for income taxes.
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The Company records uncertain tax positions in accordance with ASC 740 on the basis of a two-step process in which (1) we determine whether it
is more likely than not that the tax positions will be sustained on the basis of the technical merits of the position and (2) for those tax positions that meet the
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold, we recognize the largest amount of tax benefit that is more than 50 percent likely to be realized upon ultimate
settlement with the related tax authority.
Tax Receivable Agreement
The Company expects to obtain an increase in its share of tax basis in the net assets of Viant Technology LLC when Class B units are exchanged by
the holders of Class B units for shares of Class A common stock of the Company and upon other qualifying transactions. Each change in outstanding shares
of Class A common stock of the Company results in a corresponding increase or decrease in the Company's ownership of Class A units of Viant
Technology LLC. The Company intends to treat any exchanges of Class B units as direct purchases of LLC interests for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
These increases in tax basis may reduce the amounts that Viant Technology Inc. would otherwise pay in the future to various taxing authorities. They may
also decrease gains (or increase losses) on future dispositions of certain capital assets to the extent tax basis is allocated to those capital assets.
In connection with the IPO, the Company entered into a Tax Receivable Agreement (“TRA”) with Viant Technology LLC and the holders of Class
B units of Viant Technology LLC (the “Members”). In the event that such parties exchange any or all of their Class B units for Class A common stock, the
TRA requires the Company to make payments to such holders for 85% of the tax benefits realized, or in some cases deemed to be realized, by the
Company by such exchange as a result of (i) increases in the Company’s tax basis of its ownership interest in the net assets of Viant Technology LLC
resulting from any redemptions or exchanges of noncontrolling interest, (ii) tax basis increases attributable to payments made under the TRA, and (iii)
deductions attributable to imputed interest pursuant to the TRA (the “TRA Payments”). The annual tax benefits are computed by calculating the income
taxes due, including such tax benefits, and the income taxes due without such benefits. The Company expects to benefit from the remaining 15% of any tax
benefits that it may actually realize. The TRA Payments are not conditioned upon any continued ownership interest in Viant Technology LLC or the
Company. To the extent that the Company is unable to timely make payments under the TRA for any reason, such payments generally will be deferred and
will accrue interest until paid.
The timing and amount of aggregate payments due under the TRA may vary based on a number of factors, including the amount and timing of the
taxable income the Company generates each year and the tax rate then applicable. The Company calculates the liability under the TRA using a complex
TRA model, which includes an assumption related to the fair market value of assets. The payment obligations under the TRA are obligations of Viant
Technology Inc. and not of Viant Technology LLC. Payments are generally due under the TRA within a specified period of time following the filing of the
Company’s tax return for the taxable year with respect to which the payment obligation arises, although interest on such payments will begin to accrue at a
rate of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (“SOFR”) plus 500 basis points from the due date (without extensions) of such tax return.
The TRA provides that if (i) certain mergers, asset sales, other forms of business combinations, or other changes of control were to occur, (ii) there
is a material breach of any material obligations under the TRA; or (iii) the Company elects an early termination of the TRA, then the TRA will terminate
and the Company's obligations, or the Company's successor’s obligations, under the TRA will accelerate and become due and payable, based on certain
assumptions, including an assumption that the Company would have sufficient taxable income to fully utilize all potential future tax benefits that are
subject to the TRA and that any Class B units that have not been exchanged are deemed exchanged for the fair market value of the Company's Class A
common stock at the time of termination.
Recent Issued Accounting Pronouncements
On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS Act”) was signed into law. The JOBS Act contains provisions that, among
other things, reduce certain reporting requirements for qualifying public companies. As an “emerging growth company,” the Company may, under Section
7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act, delay adoption of new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies until such standards would
otherwise apply to private companies. An “emerging growth company” is one with less than $1.07 billion in annual sales, has less than $700 million in
market value of its shares of common stock held by non-affiliates and issues less than $1 billion of non-convertible debt over a three year period. The
Company may take advantage of this extended transition period until the first to occur of the date that it (i) is no longer an “emerging growth company” or
(ii) affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of this extended transition period.
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The Company has elected to take advantage of the benefits of this extended transition period. Until the date that the Company is no longer an
“emerging growth company” or affirmatively and irrevocably opts out of the exemption provided by Securities Act Section 7(a)(2)(B), upon issuance of a
new or revised accounting standard that applies to its condensed consolidated financial statements and that has a different effective date for public and
private companies, the Company will disclose the date on which it will adopt the recently issued accounting standard.
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic
842), which requires an entity to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on its balance sheet and disclose key information about leasing
arrangements. The guidance offers specific accounting guidance for a lessee, lessor, and sale and leaseback transactions. Lessees and lessors are required to
disclose qualitative and quantitative information about leasing arrangements to enable a user of the financial statements to assess the amount, timing and
uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases. Leases will be classified as either finance or operating, with the classification affecting the pattern of expense
recognition in the income statement. In March 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-01 which made further targeted improvements including clarification
regarding the determination of fair value of lease assets and liabilities and statement of cash flows and presentation guidance. In June 2020, FASB issued
ASU 2020-05, which extended the effective date of this guidance for non-public entities to fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. As a part of the
Company’s election under the JOBS Act, the guidance is effective for the Company’s annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2021. The
Company is currently assessing the impact this guidance will have on the condensed consolidated financial statements.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326). ASU 2016-13 revises the impairment model
to utilize an expected loss methodology in place of the currently used incurred loss methodology, which will result in more timely recognition of losses on
financial instruments, including, but not limited to, available for sale debt securities and accounts receivable. The guidance is effective for the Company’s
annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company does not expect the adoption of this ASU to have a material impact on the
condensed consolidated financial statements.
In September 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles—Goodwill and Other—Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s
Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues
Task Force), which aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the
requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software. Early adoption is permitted and can be applied
prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption or retrospectively. This guidance is effective for the Company’s annual
reporting period beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company adopted this ASU prospectively on January 1, 2021, and the adoption of this ASU did
not have a material impact on the condensed consolidated financial statements.
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes ("ASU 2019-12").
ASU 2019-12 removes certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740 and also clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent
application. This guidance is effective for the Company’s annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company adopted ASU 201912 prospectively on January 1, 2021, and the adoption of this ASU did not have a material impact on the condensed consolidated financial statements.
In October 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-10, Codification Improvements, which updates various codification topics by clarifying disclosure
requirements to align with the SEC's regulations. The guidance is effective for the Company’s annual reporting period beginning after December 15, 2021.
The Company is currently assessing the impact this guidance will have on the condensed consolidated financial statements.
3. Revenue
The disaggregation of revenue was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Over-time revenue
Point-in-time revenue
Total revenue

$
$
12

1,105 $
39,039
40,144 $

1,273
36,887
38,160

Remaining performance obligations for contracts with an original expected duration of greater than one year amounted to $7.8 million and $8.3
million as of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively, which primarily relate to deferred revenue and data management and advanced
reporting services. As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, $1.9 million and $3.6 million, respectively, is expected to be recognized within one year,
with the remaining amounts expected to be recognized thereafter.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, we recognized $0.5 million of revenue related to amounts that were included in deferred revenue as
of December 31, 2020. The revenue recognized from the contract liabilities consisted of the Company satisfying performance obligations during the
normal course of business. Deferred revenue that is anticipated to be recognized during the succeeding 12-month period is recorded in current portion of
deferred revenue and the remaining amount is recorded as non-current portion of deferred revenue within the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
4. Property, Equipment and Software, Net
Major classes of property, equipment and software were as follows:
As of
As of
March 31,
December 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Capitalized software development costs
Computer equipment
Purchased software
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
Leasehold improvements
Total property, equipment and software
Less: Accumulated depreciation
Total property, equipment and software, net

$

48,187 $
1,708
32
1,087
2,125
53,139
(36,720)
16,419 $

$

43,627
1,575
32
1,087
2,115
48,436
(34,607)
13,829

Depreciation recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total

$

1,578
—
381
161
2,120

$

$

1,762
—
401
144
2,307

$

For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, total interest cost incurred was $0.2 million and $0.3 million, respectively. The Company
capitalized interest costs of $5,000 to capitalized software development costs for the three months ended March 31, 2021.
5. Intangible Assets, Net
The balances of intangibles assets and accumulated amortization are as follows:
As of March 31, 2021
Remaining
Weighted
Average
Useful Life
(in years)

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks/tradenames
Total

1.8
2.8
4.1

Gross
Amount

$

$
13

4,927
2,300
1,400
8,627

Accumulated
Amortization
(in thousands)

$

$

(3,643) $
(1,369)
(907)
(5,919) $

Net
Carrying
Amount

1,284
931
493
2,708

As of December 31, 2020
Remaining
Weighted
Average
Useful Life
(in years)

Developed technology
Customer relationships
Trademarks/tradenames
Total

2.1
3.1
4.2

Gross
Amount

$

4,927
2,300
1,400
8,627

$

Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization
(in thousands)

$

(3,469) $
(1,287)
(856)
(5,612) $

$

Amortization recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total

$

175
—
—
132
307

$

$

175
—
—
132
307

$

Estimated future amortization of intangible assets as of March 31, 2021 is as follows:
As of March 31,
2021
(in thousands)

Year

Remainder of 2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total

$

923
1,119
467
107
80
12
2,708

$

6. Accrued Liabilities
The Company’s accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
As of
As of
March 31,
December 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Accrued traffic acquisition costs
Other accrued liabilities
Total accrued liabilities

$
$

14

11,337
1,883
13,220

$
$

22,667
2,010
24,677

1,458
1,013
544
3,015

7. Long-Term Debt and Revolving Credit Facility
The Company’s debt and revolving credit facilities consisted of the following:
As of
As of
March 31,
December 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Revolving credit facility
Paycheck Protection Program Loan
Total debt
Less: Current portion of long-term debt
Total long-term debt

$

$

17,500 $
6,035
23,535
(5,365)
18,170 $

17,500
6,035
23,535
(3,353)
20,182

As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the current portion of long-term debt related to the PPP Loan. The carrying value of debt as of
March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 approximated its fair value.
Revolving Credit Facility
On October 31, 2019, we entered into an asset-based revolving credit and security agreement with PNC Bank (the “Loan Agreement”). The Loan
Agreement provides a senior secured revolving credit facility of up to $40.0 million with a maturity date of October 31, 2024. The Loan Agreement is
collateralized by security interests in substantially all of our assets.
Advances under the Loan Agreement bear interest through maturity at a variable rate based upon our selection of either a Domestic Rate or a
LIBOR Rate, plus an applicable margin (“Domestic Rate Loans” and “LIBOR Rate Loans”). The Domestic Rate is defined as a fluctuating interest rate
equal to the greater of (1) the base commercial lending rate of PNC Bank, (2) the overnight federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (3) the Daily LIBOR Rate
plus 1.00%. The effective weighted average interest rate as of March 31, 2021 was 3.63%. The applicable margin commencing January 1, 2021 is between
1.50% to 2.25% for Domestic Rate Loans and between 3.50% and 4.25% for LIBOR Rate Loans based on maintaining certain undrawn availability ratios.
The facility fee for undrawn amounts under the Loan Agreement is 0.375% per annum. We will also be required to pay customary letter of credit fees, as
necessary.
The Loan Agreement contains customary conditions to borrowings, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict our ability to
sell assets, make changes to the nature of the business, engage in mergers or acquisitions, incur, assume or permit to exist additional indebtedness and
guarantees, create or permit to exist liens, pay dividends, issue equity instruments, make distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock or make other
investments, and engage in transactions with affiliates. The Loan Agreement also requires that we maintain compliance with a minimum Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Loan Agreement) of 1.40 to 1.00 at any time undrawn availability under the Loan Agreement is less than 25%. As of
March 31, 2021, we are in compliance with all covenants.
8. Stock-Based Compensation
In connection with the IPO, which occurred on February 12, 2021, the Phantom Unit Plan was replaced by the 2021 LTIP, and 6.2 million RSUs
were granted. The Company is authorized to grant RSUs, incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock
awards, and performance stock awards under its 2021 LTIP. As of March 31, 2021, the Company has currently only granted RSUs. Under the Company’s
2021 LTIP, 5.6 million shares remained available for grant as of March 31, 2021.
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Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation recorded in the condensed consolidated statements of operations was as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total

$

$

3,161
6,813
2,939
4,177
17,090

$

$

—
—
—
—
—

Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”)
The following summarizes RSU activity during the three months ended March 31, 2021:
Number of Shares
(in thousands)

RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2020
Granted
Vested
Canceled/forfeited
RSUs outstanding as of March 31, 2021

$

$

—
6,208
—
(26)
6,182

As of March 31, 2021, the Company had unrecognized stock-based compensation relating to RSUs of approximately $134.8 million, which is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years.
9. Income Taxes and Tax Receivable Agreement
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount of income tax computed by applying the applicable U.S. statutory federal income tax rate of
21% to income before provision of income taxes due to Viant Technology LLC’s pass-through structure for U.S. income tax purposes and the valuation
allowance against the deferred tax asset. Viant Technology Inc. did not recognize an income tax expense/(benefit) on its share of pre-tax book income
(loss), exclusive of the noncontrolling interest of 80.5%, due to the full valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets, resulting in an effective tax rate
("ETR") of 0%, for the three months ended March 31, 2021.
As of March 31, 2021, management determined based on applicable accounting standards and the weight of all available evidence, it was not more
likely than not ("MLTN") that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred tax assets including the difference in our tax
basis in excess of the financial reporting value for our investment in Viant Technology LLC. Consequently, we have established a full valuation allowance
against our deferred tax assets as of March 31, 2021. In the event that management subsequently determines that it is MLTN that we will realize our
deferred tax assets in the future over the recorded amount, a decrease to the valuation allowance will be made, which will reduce the provision for income
taxes.
The Company has concluded based on applicable accounting standards and the weight of all available evidence, that it was more likely than not that
its deferred tax assets subject to the TRA would not be realized as of March 31, 2021. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability related to the tax
savings it may realize from utilization of such deferred tax assets after concluding it was not probable that such TRA liability would be paid based on its
estimates of future taxable income. As of March 31, 2021, the total unrecorded TRA liability is approximately $9.1 million. If utilization of the deferred tax
assets subject to the TRA becomes more likely than not in the future, the Company will record a liability related to the TRA, to the extent probable at that
time, which will be recognized as an expense within its condensed consolidated statements of operations.
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10. Earnings (Loss) Per Share/Unit
Prior to the Reorganization Transactions that occurred on February 12, 2021, the Viant Technology LLC membership structure included certain
convertible preferred units and common units. As a result of the Reorganization Transactions, Class B units of Viant Technology LLC are exchangeable in
the future for Class A common stock of the Company. As the conversion of Viant Technology LLC preferred and common units to Class B units was not
done in a proportionate manner with respect to the rights and economic interests of the former Viant Technology LLC unit holders compared to those of the
new Class B unit/shareholders in Viant Technology LLC and Viant Technology Inc, we do not believe it is appropriate to retrospectively adjust these units.
Accordingly, the earnings per unit calculation presented for March 31, 2020 reflects units of the membership structure prior to the Reorganization
Transactions.
For the three months ended March 31, 2021, basic net loss per share has been calculated by dividing net loss attributable to Class A common
stockholders for the period subsequent to the Reorganization Transactions, by the weighted average number of shares of Class A common stock
outstanding for the same period. Shares of Class A common stock are weighted for the portion of the period in which the shares were outstanding. Diluted
net loss per share has been calculated in a manner consistent with that of basic net loss per share while giving effect to all potentially dilutive shares of
Class A common stock outstanding during the period.
For the three months ended March 31, 2020, diluted earnings per unit represents net income attributable to all unitholders divided by the weightedaverage number of units outstanding, inclusive of the convertible preferred units using the as-if-converted method and the incentive common units using
the treasury stock method, if dilutive. For the three months ended March 31, 2020, there were no potential dilutive units related to incentive common units
as they were all issued as of the beginning of the year. The potential dilutive units related to the convertible preferred units were included in the
computation of dilutive earnings per unit.
The undistributed earnings for the three months ended March 31, 2020 have been allocated based on the participation rights of the convertible
preferred and common units as if the earnings for the period have been distributed. As the participation in distributed and undistributed earnings is identical
for both classes, the distributed and undistributed earnings are allocated on a proportionate basis.
The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net earnings (loss) per share/unit for the three months ended March 31, 2021, the
period following the Reorganization Transactions, and for the three months ended March 31, 2020. See Note 2 for additional information related to basic
and diluted net loss per share/unit.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021

2020

(in thousands, except per share/unit data)

Numerator
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Less: Undistributed earnings attributable to participating securities
Net loss attributable to Viant Technology Inc./common unitholders

$

$

Denominator
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock/units outstanding—basic
Effect of dilutive securities:
Convertible preferred units
Restricted stock units
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock/units outstanding—
diluted

(14,870)
(11,766)
—
(3,104)

$

$

329
—
(197)
132

11,500

400

—
—

600
—

11,500

1,000

Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock/unit—basic

$

(0.27)

$

0.33

Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock/unit—diluted

$

(0.27)

$

0.33

Anti-dilutive shares/units excluded from earnings (loss) per share of Class A
common stock/unit—diluted:
Restricted stock units
Shares of Class B common stock
Total shares excluded from earnings (loss) per share of Class A common
stock/unit—diluted
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6,196
47,436

—
—

53,632

—

11. Noncontrolling Interests
We are the sole managing member of Viant Technology LLC and, as a result, consolidate the financial results of Viant Technology LLC. We report
noncontrolling interests representing the economic interests in Viant Technology LLC held by the other members of Viant Technology LLC. The Viant
Technology LLC Agreement classifies the interests acquired by the Company as Class A units, reclassified the interests held by the continuing members of
Viant Technology LLC as Class B units and permits the continuing members of Viant Technology LLC to exchange Class B units for shares of Class A
common stock on a one-for-one basis or, at the election of Viant Technology Inc., for cash at the current fair value on the date of the exchange. Changes in
the Company’s ownership interest in Viant Technology LLC while retaining control of Viant Technology LLC will be accounted for as equity transactions.
As such, future redemptions or direct exchanges of Class B units in Viant Technology LLC by the other members will result in a change in ownership and
reduce the amount recorded as noncontrolling interest and increase additional paid-in capital.
The following table summarizes the ownership of Viant Technology LLC as of March 31, 2021:

Owner

Units Owned

Viant Technology Inc.
Noncontrolling interests
Total

As of March 31, 2021
Ownership Percentage

11,500,000
47,435,559
58,935,559

19.5%
80.5%
100.0%

12. Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Commitments
Future minimum payments under the Company’s non-cancelable operating leases, which are primarily related to office leases, as of March 31, 2021
are as follows:
As of March 31,
2021
(in thousands)

Year

Remainder of 2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 and thereafter
Total minimum payments

$

$

2,548
2,002
991
124
—
5,665

Legal Matters
From time to time, the Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims, either asserted or unasserted, that arise in the ordinary course of
business. Although the outcome of the various legal proceedings and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, management does not believe that any of
these proceedings or other claims will have a material effect on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.
Guarantees and Indemnities
The Company has made no significant contractual guarantees for the benefit of third parties. However, in the ordinary course of business, the
Company may provide indemnifications of varying scope and terms to customers, vendors, lessors, business partners and other parties with respect to
certain matters, including, but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such agreements, services to be provided by the Company or intellectual
property infringement claims made by third parties. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements with directors and certain
officers and employees that will require the Company, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their
status or service as directors, officers or employees. The Company is not aware of indemnification claims that could have a material effect on the
Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, no amounts for any obligation have been recorded as of March 31, 2021.
13. Subsequent Events
On April 12, 2021, the Company submitted an application for the forgiveness of the full amount of our PPP Loan and we have not received a
determination from SBA regarding our PPP loan forgiveness application.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements generally relate to future events or our future
financial or operating performance and may include statements concerning, among other things, our business strategy (including anticipated trends and
developments in, and management plans for, our business and the markets in which we operate), financial results, the impact of COVID-19 on our
business, operations, and the markets and communities in which we, our clients, and partners operate, results of operations, revenues, operating expenses,
and capital expenditures, sales and marketing initiatives and competition. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain
words such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “could,” “intends,” “target,” “projects,” “contemplates,”
“believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “suggests,” “potential” or “continue” or the negative of these words or other similar terms or expressions that
concern our expectations, strategy, plans or intentions. These statements are not guarantees of future performance; they reflect our current views with
respect to future events and are based on assumptions and are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our
actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from expectations or results projected or implied by forward-looking statements.
We discuss many of these risks in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 in greater detail under the heading “Risk
Factors” and in other filings we make from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. Also, these forward-looking statements
represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which are inherently subject to change and involve
risks and uncertainties. Unless required by federal securities laws, we assume no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements, or to
update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated, to reflect circumstances or events that occur after the statements are made.
Given these uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements.
Investors should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference in this report and have filed with the SEC, including
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be
materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary statements.
References to “Notes” are notes included in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
Overview
We are an advertising software company. Our software enables the programmatic purchase of advertising, which is the electronification of the
advertising buying process. Programmatic advertising is rapidly taking market share from traditional ad sales channels, which require more staffing, offer
less transparency and involve higher costs to buyers.
Our demand side platform (“DSP”), Adelphic, is an enterprise software platform that is used by marketers and their advertising agencies to
centralize the planning, buying and measurement of their advertising media across most channels. Through our technology, a marketer can easily buy ads
on desktop, mobile, connected TV, linear TV, streaming audio and digital billboards.
We serve marketers and their advertising agencies by enabling them to plan, buy and measure programmatic campaigns. We provide an easy-to-use
self-service programmatic platform that delivers transparency and control. Our platform offers customers unique visibility across a variety of advertising
channels with the ability to create customized audience segments leveraging our people-based and strategic partner data to reach target audiences at scale.
Our people-based approach is in contrast to the inefficient approach of cookie-based tracking. People-based data enables marketers to use first-party data
for both the targeting and measurement of their ad campaigns in a manner that we believe is more accurate than utilizing a cookie-based approach.
We make our platform available through different pricing options to tailor to multiple client types and customer needs. These options consist of a
percentage of spend option, a subscription option and a fixed CPM pricing option. CPM refers to a payment option in which customers pay a price for
every 1,000 impressions an ad receives. Customers can enter into master service agreements with us that enable them to use our platform on a self-service
basis to execute their advertising campaigns. We generate revenue when the platform is used on a self-service basis by charging a platform fee that is either
a percentage of spend or a flat monthly subscription fee, as well as fees for additional features such as data and advanced reporting. We also offer our
customers the ability to use our services to aid them in data management, media execution and advanced reporting. When customers utilize our services, we
generate revenue by charging a (1) separate service fee that represents a percentage of spend in addition to the platform fee; (2) a flat monthly fee covering
services in connection with data management and advanced reporting; or (3) a fixed CPM that is inclusive of media, other direct costs and services. We
believe that offering a multitude of pricing options provides our customers greater flexibility and access to our platform.
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Our financial results include:
•

Revenue of $40.1 million and $38.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an increase of
5.2%;

•

Gross profit of $15.8 million and $14.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an increase
of 8.5%;

•

Revenue ex-TAC of $26.7 million and $23.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an
increase of 14.6%;

•

Net loss of $14.9 million and net income $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively; and

•

Non-GAAP net income of $2.2 million and $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively;

•

Adjusted EBITDA of $4.9 million and $3.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an
increase of 51.5%.

Revenue ex-TAC, Adjusted EBITDA and non-GAAP net income are non-GAAP measures. For a detailed discussion of our key operating and
financial performance metrics and a reconciliation of revenue ex-TAC, Adjusted EBITDA, and non-GAAP net income to the most directly comparable
financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP, see “—Key Operating and Financial Performance Metrics—Use of Non-GAAP Financial
Measures.”
Factors Affecting Our Performance
COVID-19
In March 2020, the World Health Organization characterized the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) a pandemic and the President of the United States
declared the COVID-19 outbreak a national emergency. COVID-19 has spread across the globe and has impacted economic activity worldwide.
The ultimate impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s results of operations, financial condition and cash flows is dependent on future developments,
including the duration of the pandemic and the related length of its impact on the global economy, which are uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time.
See “Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020—The effects of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and other
sustained adverse market events have had, and could in the future have, an adverse impact on our business, operating results and financial condition” for
further discussion of the potential impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business.
Attract, Retain and Grow our Customer Base
Our recent growth has been driven by expanding the use of our platform by our existing customers as well as adding new customers. We believe that
our customers value our solutions, as our average revenue ex-TAC per Active Customer for the twelve months ended March 31, 2021 was $428,000, an
increase of $9,000 or 2.1%, compared to the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 and an increase of $28,000 or 7.0%, compared to twelve months
ended March 31, 2020. The number of Active Customers increased by 2 customers or 0.8%, from the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 compared
to the twelve months ended March 31, 2021 and decreased by 3 customers or 1.1%, from the twelve months ended March 31, 2020 to the twelve months
ended March 31, 2021. We review changes in the use of our platform as represented by changes in aggregate spend on the platform as a metric of customer
engagement. Platform spend increased by 8.8% during the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2020. For a
detailed discussion of our key operating metrics including the definition of Active Customers, see “—Key Operating and Financial Performance Metrics—
Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”
We continue to add functionality to our platform to encourage our customers to increase their usage of our platform. We believe many advertisers
are in the early stages of moving a greater percentage of their advertising budgets to programmatic channels. By providing solutions for the planning,
buying and measuring of their media spend across channels, we believe that we are well positioned to capture the increase in programmatic budgets.
Further, we intend to continue to grow our sales and marketing efforts to increase awareness of our Adelphic platform and highlight the advantages of our
people-based framework as cookie-based options become increasingly limited. As a result, future revenue growth depends upon our ability to retain our
existing customers and increase their use of our platform as well as add new customers.
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Investment in Growth
We believe that the advertising market is in the early stages of a secular shift towards programmatic advertising. We plan to invest for long-term
growth. We anticipate that our operating expenses will increase significantly in the foreseeable future as we invest in platform operations and technology
and development to enhance our product capabilities, including identity resolution and the integration of new advertising channels, and in sales and
marketing to acquire new customers and increase our customers’ use of our platform. We believe that these investments will contribute to our long-term
growth, although they may have a negative impact on our profitability in the near-term.
Growth of the Digital Advertising Market and Macroeconomics Factors
We expect to continue to benefit from overall adoption of programmatic advertising by marketers and their agencies. Any material change in the
growth rate of digital advertising or the rate of adoption of programmatic, including expansion of new programmatic channels, could affect our
performance. Recent years have shown that advertising spend is closely tied to advertisers’ financial performance and a downturn, either generally or in
one or more of the industries in which our customers operate, could adversely impact the digital advertising market and our operating results.
Seasonality
In the advertising industry, companies commonly experience seasonal fluctuations in revenue. For example, many marketers allocate the largest
portion of their budgets to the fourth quarter of the calendar year in order to coincide with increased holiday purchasing. Historically, the fourth quarter has
reflected our highest level of advertising activity for the year. We generally expect the subsequent first quarter to reflect lower activity levels, but this trend
may be masked due to the continued growth of our business. In addition, historical seasonality may not be predictive of future results given the potential for
changes in advertising buying patterns and consumer activity due to the COVID-19 pandemic. We expect our revenue to continue to fluctuate based on
seasonal factors that affect the advertising industry as a whole.
Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations, our consolidated results of operations as a percentage of revenue, and the
impact of stock-based compensation, depreciation and amortization on each operating expense line item for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and
2020:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue
Operating expenses(1):
Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Total other expense, net
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.
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$

$

40,144

$

38,160

24,344
14,185
5,900
10,420
54,849
(14,705)
165
(14,870)
(11,766)
(3,104) $

23,603
7,130
2,150
4,656
37,539
621
292
329
—
329

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(% of revenue*)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue
Operating expenses:
Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total operating expenses
Income (loss) from operations
Total other expense, net
Net income (loss)
Less: Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.

100%

100%

61%
35%
15%
26%
137%
(37)%
0%
(37)%
(29)%
(8)%

62%
19%
6%
12%
98%
2%
1%
1%
—
1%

*

Percentages may not sum due to rounding

(1)

Stock-based compensation, depreciation, and amortization included above were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Stock-based compensation:
Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation

$

$

3,161
6,813
2,939
4,177
17,090

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Depreciation:
Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total depreciation

$

$

1,578
—
381
161
2,120

$

$

1,762
—
401
144
2,307

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Amortization:
Platform operations
Sales and marketing
Technology and development
General and administrative
Total amortization

$

$

22

175
—
—
132
307

$

$

175
—
—
132
307

Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020
Revenue
Three Months Ended
March 31,
Change
2021
2020
$
(in thousands, except for percentages)

Revenue

$

40,144

$

38,160

$

%

1,984

5%

Revenue increased by $2.0 million, or 5% during the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2020.
Despite ongoing adverse impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, we have continued to experience increased customer usage of our platform, particularly in
the percentage of spend pricing option, and continuing demand for our people-based advertising products and services. Platform spend increased by 9% in
the comparative period.
Platform Operations
Three Months Ended
March 31,
Change
2021
2020
$
(in thousands, except for percentages)

Traffic acquisition costs
Other platform operations
Total platform operations

$
$

Platform operations as a percentage of revenue

13,403
10,941
24,344

$
$

61%

14,819
8,784
23,603

$
$

%

(1,416)
2,157
741

(10%)
25%
3%

62%

Platform operations expense increased by $0.7 million, or 3%, during the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three months
ended March 31, 2020. This is comprised of a $1.4 million decrease in traffic acquisition costs (“TAC”), which is a variable function of revenue associated
with our fixed CPM pricing option, offset by a $2.2 million increase in other platform operations expense. The increase in other platform operations is
primarily driven by a $3.2 million increase in stock-based compensation related to our 2021 LTIP, partially offset by a decrease of $0.8 million in cloud
costs due to continued efforts to increase cloud infrastructure efficiencies and a decrease of $0.2 million in depreciation.
Sales and Marketing
Three Months Ended
March 31,
Change
2021
2020
$
(in thousands, except for percentages)

Sales and marketing
Percentage of revenue

$

14,185
$
35%

7,130
$
19%

%

7,055

99%

Sales and marketing expense increased by $7.1 million, or 99%, during the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2020. The increase in sales and marketing expense was primarily due to a $6.8 million increase in stock-based compensation related to our 2021
LTIP, a $0.4 million increase in the amount of overhead allocated to sales and marketing as a result of the departments’ headcount increasing and becoming
a larger percentage of total headcount, a $0.2 increase in advertising, partially offset by a $0.4 million decrease in travel and entertainment as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic.
Technology and Development
Three Months Ended
March 31,
Change
2021
2020
$
(in thousands, except for percentages)

Technology and development
Percentage of revenue

$

23

5,900
$
15%

2,150
$
6%

3,750

%

174%

Technology and development expense increased by $3.8 million, or 174%, during the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2020. The increase in technology and development expense was primarily attributable to a $2.9 million increase in stock-based
compensation related to our 2021 LTIP and an $0.8 million increase in personnel costs as a result of an increase in headcount to support our continued
investment in developed technology.
General and Administrative
Three Months Ended
March 31,
Change
2021
2020
$
(in thousands, except for percentages)

General and administrative
Percentage of revenue

$

10,420
$
26%

4,656
$
12%

%

5,764

124%

General and administrative expense increased by $5.8 million, or 124%, during the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three
months ended March 31, 2020. The increase in general and administrative expense was primarily attributable to a $4.2 million increase in stock-based
compensation related to our 2021 LTIP, a $1.1 million increase in insurance and accounting expenses associated with the IPO, a $0.5 million increase in
personnel costs due to the increase in headcount and a $0.3 million increase in recruiting expenses, partially offset by a $0.3 decrease in travel and
entertainment due to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Total Other Expense, Net
Three Months Ended
March 31,
Change
2021
2020
$
(in thousands, except for percentages)

Total other expense, net
Percentage of revenue

$

165
$
0.4%

292
$
1%

(127)

%

(43%)

Total other expense, net decreased by $0.1 million, or 43%, during the three months ended March 31, 2021 compared to the three months ended
March 31, 2020. The decrease in total other expense, net was primarily due to a $0.1 million decrease in interest expense as a result of lower interest rates
on borrowings under our revolving credit facility.
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Key Operating and Financial Performance Metrics
Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures
We monitor the key operating and financial performance metrics set forth below to help us evaluate growth trends, establish budgets, measure the
effectiveness of our sales and marketing efforts and assess our operational efficiencies. This Quarterly Report includes financial measures defined as nonGAAP financial measures by the SEC. These non-GAAP measures include revenue ex-TAC, Adjusted EBITDA, non-GAAP net income (loss), and nonGAAP earnings (loss) per share, which are discussed immediately following the table below, along with the operational performance measure Active
Customers. These measures are not calculated in accordance with GAAP.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands, except for percentages, per share
data and number of customers)

Operating and Financial Performance
Metrics
Revenue ex-TAC
Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of
revenue ex-TAC
Non-GAAP net income
Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share—basic(1)
Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share—diluted(1)
Number of Active Customers(2)
Average revenue ex-TAC per Active
Customer(2)

$
$

26,741
4,882

$
$

18%
2,164
$
0.01
0.01
266

$
$
$

$

428

$

Change (%)

23,341
3,224
14%
329
N/A
N/A
269
400

15%
51%

558%
N/A
N/A
(1%)
7%

(1)
Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share was not adjusted for the prior comparative period presented. For discussion on why the prior period
was not adjusted, see “—Non-GAAP Earnings (loss) per Share.”
(2)
We define an Active Customer as a customer that had total aggregate revenue ex-TAC of at least $5,000 through our platform during the
previous twelve months. We define average revenue ex-TAC per Active Customer as revenue ex-TAC for the trailing twelve month period presented
divided by Active Customers. For a detailed discussion of average revenue ex-TAC per Active Customer and Active Customers, see “—Number of Active
Customers and Average Revenue ex-TAC per Active Customer.”

Revenue ex-TAC
Revenue ex-TAC is a non-GAAP financial measure. Gross profit is the most comparable GAAP measurement, which is calculated as revenue less
platform operations. In calculating revenue ex-TAC, we add back other platform operations expense to gross profit. Revenue ex-TAC is a key profitability
measure used by our management and board of directors to understand and evaluate our operating performance and trends, develop short-and long-term
operational plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital. In particular, we believe that revenue ex-TAC can provide a measure of
period-to-period comparisons for all pricing options within our business. Accordingly, we believe that this measure provides information to investors and
the market in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.
Our use of revenue ex-TAC has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our
financial results as reported under GAAP. A potential limitation of this non-GAAP financial measure is that other companies, including companies in our
industry which have similar business arrangements, may define revenue ex-TAC differently, which may make comparisons difficult. Because of these and
other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial performance measures, including
revenue, gross profit, net income (loss) and cash flows.
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The following table presents the calculation of gross profit and reconciliation of gross profit to revenue ex-TAC for the three months ended March
31, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Revenue
Less: Platform operations
Gross profit
Add back: Other platform operations
Revenue ex-TAC

$

$

40,144 $
(24,344)
15,800
10,941
26,741 $

38,160
(23,603)
14,557
8,784
23,341

Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure defined by us as net income (loss), the most comparable GAAP measurement, before interest
expense, net, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations, such as restructuring
charges and transaction expenses.
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue ex-TAC are key measures used by our management and board of directors to
understand and evaluate our core operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget and to develop short-and long-term
operational plans. In particular, we believe that the exclusion of the amounts eliminated in calculating Adjusted EBITDA can provide a measure for periodto-period comparisons of our business. Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of our non-GAAP metric, revenue ex-TAC, is used by our management and
board of directors to evaluate Adjusted EBITDA relative to our profitability after costs that are directly variable to revenues, which comprise traffic
acquisition costs. Accordingly, we believe that Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue ex-TAC provides information to
investors and the market in understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and board of directors.
Our use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue ex-TAC has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not
consider these measures in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these potential limitations
include:
•

other companies, including companies in our industry which have similar business arrangements, may report Adjusted EBITDA or Adjusted
EBITDA as a percentage of revenue ex-TAC, or similarly titled measures but calculate them differently, which reduces their usefulness as
comparative measures; and

•

although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the
future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure
requirements; and

•

Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs or the potentially dilutive impact of stockbased compensation.

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial
performance measures, including revenue, net income (loss) and cash flows. The following table presents the reconciliation of net income (loss) to
Adjusted EBITDA for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020.
Three Months Ended
March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Net income (loss)
Add back:
Interest expense, net
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Adjusted EBITDA

$

$

26

(14,870) $
235
2,427
17,090
4,882

$

329
281
2,614
—
3,224

The following table presents the reconciliation of net income as a percentage of gross profit to Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue exTAC for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands, except for
percentages)

Gross profit
Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) as a percentage of gross profit(1)

$
$

Revenue ex-TAC(2)
Adjusted EBITDA(3)
Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of revenue ex-TAC

$
$

15,800
(14,870)
N/M

$
$

14,557
329
2%

26,741
$
4,882
$
18%

23,341
3,224
14%

(1)
Management believes that net loss as a percentage of gross profit for the current period presented is not comparable to the prior year
period presented due to the impact of stock-based compensation recognized in the current period.
(2)
For a reconciliation of revenue ex-TAC to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, see “—
Revenue ex-TAC.”
(3)
For a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the most directly comparable financial measure calculated in accordance with GAAP, see
“—Adjusted EBITDA.”

Non-GAAP Net Income (Loss)
Non-GAAP net income (loss) is a non-GAAP financial measure defined by us as net income (loss), the most comparable GAAP measurement,
adjusted to eliminate the impact of stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations, such as restructuring
charges and transaction expenses. Non-GAAP net income (loss) is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to evaluate operating
performance, generate future operating plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital. In particular, we believe that the elimination
of stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations provides measures for period-to-period comparisons of our
business and provides additional insight into our core controllable costs. Accordingly, we believe that non-GAAP net income (loss) provides information to
investors and the market generally in understanding and evaluating our results of operations in the same manner as our management and board of directors.
Our use of non-GAAP net income (loss) has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for analysis
of our financial results as reported under GAAP. A potential limitation of this non-GAAP financial measure is that other companies, including companies
in our industry which have similar business arrangements, may define non-GAAP net income (loss) differently, which may make comparisons difficult.
Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial performance
measures, including revenue, gross profit, net income (loss) and cash flows.
The following table presents the reconciliation of net loss to non-GAAP net income for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021

2020
(in thousands)

Net income (loss)
Add back: Stock-based compensation
Add: Income tax expense attributable to Viant Technology Inc.
Non-GAAP net income
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$

$

(14,870)
17,090
(56)
2,164

$

$

329
—
—
329

Non-GAAP Earnings (loss) per Share
Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share is a non-GAAP financial measure defined by us as earnings (loss) per share, the most comparable GAAP
measurement, adjusted to eliminate the impact of stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations, such as
restructuring charges and transaction expenses. Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share is a key measure used by our management and board of directors to
evaluate operating performance, generate future operating plans and make strategic decisions regarding the allocation of capital. In particular, we believe
that the elimination of stock-based compensation and certain other items that are not related to our core operations provides measures for period-to-period
comparisons of our business and provides additional insight into our core controllable costs. Accordingly, we believe that non-GAAP earnings (loss) per
share provides information to investors and the market generally in understanding and evaluating our results of operations in the same manner as our
management and board of directors.
Our use of Non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as a substitute for
analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these potential limitations include:
•

other companies, including companies in our industry which have similar business arrangements, may report non-GAAP earnings (loss) per
share or similarly titled measures, but calculate them differently, which reduces their usefulness as comparative measures; and

•

although the stock-based compensation related to the 2021 LTIP referred to above is non-cash in nature, non-GAAP earnings (loss) per share
does not reflect its impact on net income (loss) attributable to all common shareholders.

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider our non-GAAP measures only as supplemental to other GAAP-based financial
performance measures, including earnings (loss) per share. The following table presents the reconciliation of earnings (loss) per share to non-GAAP
earnings (loss) per share for the three months ended March 31, 2021. Earnings (loss) per share was not adjusted for any other periods presented as there
was no stock-based compensation in those periods.
Three Months Ended
March 31, 2021
Non-GAAP
(Loss) per
Earnings
Share
Adjustments
per Share
(in thousands, except share data)

Numerator
Net income (loss)
Adjustments:
Add back: Stock-based compensation
Less: Income tax effect related to Viant Technology Inc.'s share of
adjustments (1)
Non-GAAP net income (loss)
Less: Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (2)
Net income (loss) attributable to Viant Technology Inc.

$

(14,870) $
—

$

Denominator
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding—basic
Effect of dilutive securities:
Restricted stock units
Weighted-average shares of Class A common stock outstanding—diluted

—
(14,870)
(11,766)
(3,104) $

—

$

17,090

(14,870)
17,090

(56)
17,034
13,758
3,276 $

(56)
2,164
1,992
172

11,500

—

11,500

—
11,500

—
—

—
11,500

Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—basic

$

(0.27) $

0.28

$

0.01

Earnings (loss) per share of Class A common stock—diluted

$

(0.27) $

0.28

$

0.01

(1)

The estimated income tax effect of the Company’s share of non-GAAP reconciling items are calculated using an assumed blended tax rate of
24%, which represents our expected corporate tax rate, excluding discrete and non-recurring tax items.

(2)

The adjustment to net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests represents stock-based compensation attributed to the
noncontrolling interests of the Company outstanding during the period.
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Number of Active Customers and Average Revenue ex-TAC per Active Customer
Number of Active Customers and average revenue ex-TAC per Active Customer are operational metrics. We define an Active Customer as a
customer that had total aggregate revenue ex-TAC of at least $5,000 through our platform during the previous twelve months. We define average revenue
ex-TAC per Active Customer as revenue ex-TAC for the trailing twelve month period presented divided by Active Customers. For purposes of this
definition, a customer that operates under any of our pricing options that equals or exceeds the aforementioned revenue ex-TAC threshold is considered an
Active Customer. We believe that the total number of Active Customers and average revenue ex-TAC per Active Customer are important measures of our
ability to increase revenue and the effectiveness of our sales force, although we expect these measures to fluctuate based on the seasonality in our business.
Customers that generated less than $5,000 in revenue ex-TAC in the trailing twelve month period were not material in the aggregate in any period.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of March 31, 2021, we had cash of $246.6 million and working capital, consisting of current assets less current liabilities, of $253.3 million. We
believe our existing cash, cash flow from operations, and undrawn availability under our credit facility will be sufficient to meet our working capital
requirements for at least the next 12 months.
The Company is a holding company with no operations of its own and is dependent on distributions from Viant Technology LLC, including
payments under the Tax Receivable Agreement, to pay its taxes and other expenses. The Loan Agreement, as defined below, imposes, and any future credit
facilities may impose, limitations on the ability of Viant Technology LLC or the Company to pay dividends to third parties.
Revolving Credit Facility
On October 31, 2019, we entered into an asset-based revolving credit and security agreement with PNC Bank (the “Loan Agreement”). The Loan
Agreement provides a senior secured revolving credit facility of up to $40.0 million with a maturity date of October 31, 2024. The Loan Agreement is
collateralized by security interests in substantially all of our assets.
Advances under the Loan Agreement bear interest through maturity at a variable rate based upon our selection of either, a Domestic Rate or a
LIBOR Rate, plus an applicable margin (“Domestic Rate Loans” and “LIBOR Rate Loans”). The Domestic Rate is defined as a fluctuating interest rate
equal to the greater of (1) the base commercial lending rate of PNC Bank, (2) the overnight federal funds rate plus 0.50% and (3) the Daily LIBOR Rate
plus 1.00%. The effective weighted average interest rate as of March 31, 2021 was 3.63%. The applicable margin commencing January 1, 2021 is between
1.50% to 2.25% for Domestic Rate Loans and between 3.50% and 4.25% for LIBOR Rate Loans based on maintaining certain undrawn availability ratios.
The facility fee for undrawn amounts under the Loan Agreement is 0.375% per annum. We will also be required to pay customary letter of credit fees, as
necessary.
The Loan Agreement contains customary conditions to borrowings, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict our ability to
sell assets, make changes to the nature of the business, engage in mergers or acquisitions, incur, assume or permit to exist additional indebtedness and
guarantees, create or permit to exist liens, pay dividends, issue equity instruments, make distributions or redeem or repurchase capital stock or make other
investments, and engage in transactions with affiliates. The Loan Agreement also requires that we maintain compliance with a minimum Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Loan Agreement) of 1.40 to 1.00 at any time undrawn availability under the Loan Agreement is less than 25%. As of
March 31, 2021, we are in compliance with all covenants.
Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2021
2020
(in thousands)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Data
Cash flows provided by operating activities
Cash flows used in investing activities
Cash flows provided by financing activities
Increase in cash

$

$

29

14,763 $
(2,060)
224,253
236,956 $

3,507
(1,937)
—
1,570

Operating Activities
Our cash flows from operating activities are primarily influenced by growth in our operations, increases or decreases in collections from our
customers and related payments to our suppliers of advertising media and data. Cash flows from operating activities have been affected by changes in our
working capital, particularly changes in accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities. The timing of cash receipts from customers and
payments to suppliers can significantly impact our cash flows from operating activities. We typically pay suppliers in advance of collections from our
customers. Our collection and payment cycles can vary from period to period. In addition, we expect seasonality to impact cash flows from operating
activities on a quarterly basis.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, cash provided by operating activities of $14.8 million resulted primarily from a net loss of $14.9
million offset by noncash add back adjustments to net loss of $17.1 million for stock-based compensation, $2.4 million for depreciation and amortization,
$0.2 million in recovery of doubtful accounts and an increase in net working capital (excluding deferred revenue and other liabilities) of $12.2 million, a
decrease in deferred revenue of $0.5 million and a decrease in other liabilities of $1.4 million.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, cash provided by operating activities of $3.5 million resulted primarily from net income of $0.3
million, noncash add back adjustments to net income of $2.6 million for depreciation and amortization and an increase in net working capital (excluding
deferred revenue and other liabilities) of $2.8 million, offset by a decrease in deferred revenue of $0.8 million and a decrease in other liabilities of $1.3
million.
Investing Activities
Our primary investing activities have consisted of capital expenditures to develop our software in support of enhancing our technology platform and
purchases of property and equipment in support of our expanding headcount as a result of our growth. We capitalize certain costs associated with creating
and enhancing internally developed software related to our technology infrastructure that are recorded within property, equipment and software, net. These
costs include personnel and related employee benefit expenses for employees who are directly associated with and who devote time to software
development projects. Purchases of property and equipment and capitalized software development costs may vary from period-to-period due to the timing
of the expansion of our operations, the addition of headcount and our software development cycles. As a result of the anticipated growth of our business in
future periods, we expect our capital expenditures and our investment activity to continue to increase.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, cash used in investing activities of $2.1 million and $1.9 million, respectively, resulted
primarily from investments in capitalized software development costs.
Financing Activities
Our financing activities consisted primarily of proceeds from issuances of our equity in connection with out IPO, partially offset by payments of
offering costs associated with the issuances of equity and payments of member tax distributions. Net cash provided by or used in financing activities has
been and will be used to finance our operations, capital expenditures, platform development and rapid growth.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021, cash provided by financing activities of $224.3 million resulted primarily from $232.5 million of
IPO proceeds, net of underwriting discounts, partially offset by payments of $1.4 million in related offering costs and $6.8 million in payments of member
tax distributions.
During the three months ended March 31, 2020, there was no cash used in or provided by financing activities.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any relationships with other entities or financial partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special
purpose entities established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. We did not
have any other off-balance sheet arrangements as of March 31, 2021 other than operating leases and the indemnification agreements described in Note 12
to our condensed consolidated financial statements.
Contractual Obligations
Our principal commitments consist of our debt obligations and non-cancelable leases for our various office facilities. In certain cases, the terms of
the lease agreements provide for rental payments on a graduated basis.
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We have made no significant contractual guarantees for the benefit of third parties. However, in the ordinary course of business, we may provide
indemnifications of varying scope and terms to customers, vendors, lessors, business partners and other parties with respect to certain matters, including,
but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such agreements, services to be provided by us or from intellectual property infringement claims made by
third parties. In addition, we have entered into indemnification agreements with directors and certain officers and employees that will require us, among
other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or service as directors, officers or employees. No demands
have been made upon us to provide indemnification under such agreements and thus, there are no claims that we are aware of that could have a material
effect on our condensed consolidated financial statements. Accordingly, no amounts for any obligation have been recorded as of March 31, 2021.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with GAAP. The preparation of these condensed consolidated financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and related disclosures.
We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and various other assumptions that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Our actual results could differ from these estimates.
An accounting policy is deemed to be critical if it requires an accounting estimate to be made on assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain
at the time the estimate is made, if different estimates reasonably could have been used, or if changes in the estimate that are reasonably possible could
materially impact the financial statements. We believe that the assumptions and estimates associated with the evaluation of revenue recognition criteria,
stock-based compensation, income taxes, allowances for doubtful accounts, the useful lives of capitalized software development costs and other property,
equipment and software, assumptions used in the impairment analyses of long-lived assets and goodwill, deferred revenue, accrued liabilities and
assumptions used in the fair valuation of equity-based payment arrangements have the greatest potential impact on our condensed consolidated financial
statements. Therefore, we consider these to be our critical accounting policies and estimates.
The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
For additional information regarding stock-based compensation, income taxes and tax receivable agreement, see Note 2—Basis of Presentation and
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
For information regarding recently issued accounting pronouncements, see Note 2—Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies to our condensed consolidated financial statements.
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
See “Item 7A: Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, there have been no material changes in our exposure to market risk.
Item 4. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer (“CEO”) and chief financial officer (“CFO”), has evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”), as of the end of the quarter ended March 31, 2021. Based on such evaluation, our CEO and CFO have concluded that as of
March 31, 2021, our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that
information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within
the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including
our CEO and CFO, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) under the Exchange Act)
during the quarter ended March 31, 2021 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our CEO and CFO, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial
reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and
the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can
provide absolute assurance that all control issues within a company are detected. The inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decisionmaking can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of
some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective
control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future
periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we are involved in various legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business activities. We are not currently a party to
any litigation the outcome of which, we believe, if determined adversely to us, would individually or taken together have a material adverse effect on our
business, operating results, cash flows, or financial condition. Defending any such proceeding is costly and can impose a significant burden on management
and employees. The results of any current or future litigation cannot be predicted with certainty, and regardless of the outcome, litigation can have an
adverse impact on us because of defense and settlement costs, diversion of management resources, and other factors.
Item 1A. Risk Factors.
There have been no material changes in our risk factors from those disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Use of Proceeds
On February 12, 2021, we completed our IPO, pursuant to which we issued and sold an aggregate of 11,500,000 shares of common stock
(inclusive of 1,500,000 shares pursuant to the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares) at the IPO price of $25.00 per share. The aggregate gross
proceeds to the Company from our IPO were $250.0 million and the net proceeds were $232.5 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions of $17.5 million. The offer and sale of the shares of common stock in the IPO were registered pursuant to registration statements on Form S-1
(File Nos. 333-252117 and 333-252907), which the SEC declared effective on February 9, 2021. No offering expenses were paid directly or indirectly to
any of our directors or officers (or their associates) or persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or to any other affiliates. The
underwriters for our IPO were BofA Securities, Inc., UBS Securities LLC, Canaccord Genuity LLC, JMP Securities LLC, Needham & Company, LLC and
Raymond James & Associates, Inc.
There has been no material change in the intended use of proceeds from our IPO as described in our final prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant to
Rule 424(b)(4) on February 10, 2021.
Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
Item 5. Other Information.
None.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
The following is a list of exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 23, 2021)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with
the SEC on March 23, 2021)

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

32.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

*

Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Viant Technology Inc.
Date: May 14, 2021

By:

/s/ Tim Vanderhook
Tim Vanderhook
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

Date: May 14, 2021

By:

/s/ Larry Madden
Larry Madden
Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Tim Vanderhook, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Viant Technology Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: May 14, 2021
/s/ Tim Vanderhook
Tim Vanderhook
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO RULES 13A-14(A) AND 15D-14(A) UNDER THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002.
I, Larry Madden, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Viant Technology Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: May 14, 2021
/s/ Larry Madden
Larry Madden
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Viant Technology Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2021, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Tim Vanderhook, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
(1)
(2)
the Company.
Date: May 14, 2021

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of

By:

/s/ Tim Vanderhook
Tim Vanderhook
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of Viant Technology Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the three months ended March 31, 2021, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Larry Madden, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to
18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to my knowledge:
(1)
(2)
the Company.
Date: May 14, 2021

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of

By:

/s/ Larry Madden
Larry Madden
Chief Financial Officer

